FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/10/2021 4:39 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99564-8

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals: No. 80007-8-I

AJI P., et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.

Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANDREA K. RODGERS, WSBA #38683 Our Children's Trust 3026 NW Esplanade Seattle, WA 98117 T: (206) 696-2851 andrea@ourchildrenstrust.org

ANDREW L. WELLE, *Pro Hac Vice* Our Children's Trust 1216 Lincoln Street Eugene, OR 97401 T: (574) 315-5565 andrew@ourchildrenstrust.org

Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Thirteen Washington youth petition for discretionary review of the Published Opinion of Division I of the Court of Appeals, *Aji P. v. State*, No. 80007-8-I (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2021) (App. A).¹

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is declaratory relief regarding the constitutionality of government conduct final and conclusive under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in expanding the political question doctrine beyond its narrow scope to preclude review of a constitutional controversy involving government conduct that causes climate change?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the right to a healthful and pleasant environment, which has been recognized by vote of the people and the legislature as "fundamental and inalienable," is not a fundamental right?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents a constitutional challenge to the State's energy and transportation policies and practices that result in high levels of greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions that directly harm children. For over a decade the State has had a statutory mandate to reduce its GHG emissions, *see* RCW 70A.45.020 (formerly RCW 70.235.020 (2008)), and has spent

¹ The Youths' names are set forth on the caption of the Court of Appeals' decision. App. A at 1.

four decades studying the climate crisis, App. B ¶¶ 115–42. Yet Respondents persist in a systemic course of conduct that causes climate change.² The crux of this case is whether courts have the power to declare rights and wrongs under the constitution. Specifically, have Respondents "overstepped [their] authority under the constitution"³ by causing climate change in a manner that infringes upon Petitioners' negative constitutional rights?⁴ The Complaint details how Respondents control the State's energy and transportation system, the GHG emissions that result therefrom, and how Respondents' systemic affirmative actions in operating the State's energy and transportation system cause climate change. App. B ¶¶ 29–47, 143–48. The Complaint alleges how the youth are harmed by Respondents' conduct, such as Petitioners James and Kylie of the Quinault Indian Nation, who must relocate from their Taholah home because of climate change.

² Respondents recognize they are not on track to meet the 2020 GHG emissions reductions mandate, and according to the latest State-published data, emissions have steadily increased. App. B ¶ 142. Between 1990 and 2018, Washington GHGs increased from 90.49 MMT CO₂e to 99.57 MMT CO₂e. Dep't of Ecology, Pub. No. 20-02-020, *Wash. State Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory 1990–2018* at 13 (Jan. 2021), available at https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2002020.pdf.

³ *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 518–19, 269 P.3d 227 (2012) (the court's role is "to police the outer limits of government power, relying on the constitutional enumeration of negative rights to set the boundaries").

⁴ Petitioners allege violations of enumerated due process rights to life, liberty, and property and unenumerated rights to reasonable safety, personal security, and bodily integrity under Wash. Const. art I, § 3 (claims 1, 2); and to a healthful and pleasant environment that includes a stable climate system that sustains human life and liberty under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 30 (claim 3). App. B ¶¶ 149–73. Petitioners alleged violation of rights under the public trust doctrine (claim 4), and to equal protection under Wash. Const. art. I, § 12 (claim 5). App. B ¶¶ 174–95. While the appeal was pending, Petitioners voluntarily dismissed claim 6, challenging the constitutionality of RCW 70.235. App. C.

induced flooding and sea level rise, and Petitioner India who evacuated her farm in Eastern Washington multiple times due to wildfires, the smoke from which exacerbates her asthma. *Id.* ¶¶ 12–28. The complaint also details how Respondents' conduct violates Petitioners' constitutional rights to life, liberty, property, equal protection, and a healthful and pleasant environment which includes a stable climate system that sustains human life and liberty. *Id.* ¶¶ 143–95. While this case involves matters of weighty public importance, the need for review is much narrower—to address legal errors with broad jurisprudential implications.

First and foremost, Petitioners seek declarations of law pursuant to RCW 7.24.010 to resolve the controversy that Respondents' have violated and continue to violate their constitutional rights. App. B pp. 70–71; RCW 7.24.050 (declaratory relief intended to "terminate the controversy or remove an uncertainty."). Petitioners seek further relief in the form of an injunction to constrain Respondents "from acting pursuant to policies, practices, or customs that violate" Petitioners' constitutional rights consistent with RCW 7.24.080. App. B p. 71. Lastly, Petitioners seek an order requiring Respondents to prepare an inventory of GHG emissions and a remedial plan of their own devising "to implement and achieve science-based numeric reductions of GHG emissions." *Id.* at p. 72.

After filing an answer disputing that Petitioners have constitutional

rights infringed by Respondents' conduct, Respondents filed a Rule 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings. Without affording Petitioners an opportunity to present evidence in accordance with RCW 7.24.090 or leave to amend, the Superior Court dismissed the case with prejudice. App. D. The parties submitted briefing on appeal, App. E, and a number of Indian tribes and organizations filed seven *amicus curiae* briefs supporting Petitioners.⁵ On February 8, 2021, the Washington Court of Appeals affirmed by published opinion erroneously finding the claims nonjusticiable political questions and ruling that declaratory relief was unavailable solely because Petitioners requested potential further relief. App. A at 19. Compounding its errors, the panel improperly proceeded to and rejected the merits of some of the claims without applying strict, or any other level of, scrutiny and without factual evidence. *Id.* at 20.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Panel's Decision Contradicts Seattle Sch. Dist. and the UDJA

Over forty years ago, this Court affirmed the long-standing principle that "[d]eclaratory procedure is peculiarly well suited to the judicial determination of controversies concerning constitutional rights[.]" *Seattle*

⁵ (1) Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe; (2) the faith community; (3) the League of Women's Voters; (4) environmental groups; (5) Swinomish Indian Tribal Community, Quinault Indian Nation, and Suquamish Tribe; (6) public health officials, public health organizations, and medical doctors; and (7) Washington businesses. App. F

Sch. Dist. v. State, 90 Wn.2d 476, 490, 585 P.2d 71 (1978). Though the plaintiffs' requests for injunctive relief and to retain jurisdiction were ultimately rejected, this Court confirmed that claims for "a declaratory judgment to resolve a question of constitutional interpretation" are justiciable. *Id.* at 490. This Court's recognition that declaratory relief alone resolves systemic constitutional controversies aligns with the plain language of the UDJA and long-standing Washington precedent. RCW 7.24.010 (allowing declaratory relief "whether or not further relief is or could be claimed"); RCW 7.24.080; Wash. Sup. Ct. Civ. R. 8(a) ("Relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded.").

Here, the panel found that "declaratory relief would be final," which should have been sufficient under the UDJA.⁶ App. A at 19. However, contrary to this Court's precedent and the plain language of RCW 7.24.010, the panel rejected declaratory relief as "inextricably tied to the retention of jurisdiction and to the order to implement the climate recovery plan." *Id.* In essence, Petitioners were punished with a finding of nonjusticiability for seeking "further relief," even though such relief is authorized by RCW

⁶ On appeal, Respondents did not contest that there is an actual controversy under the UDJA, they only argued that the Court cannot provide a final and conclusive remedy through *injunctive* relief. App. E (State's Resp. Br. at 20). As such, this Court need not address the other UDJA requirements. *Wash. State Housing Finance Comm'n v. Nat'l Homebuyers Fund, Inc.*, 193 Wn.2d 704, 711 n.4, 445 P.3d 533 (2019). Declaratory relief would not constitute an advisory opinion because it would resolve the admitted controversy. *Acme Finance Co. v. Huse*, 192 Wash. 96, 107, 73 P.2d 341 (1937).

7.24.080. The panel's finding directly conflicts with *Seattle School District*, which confirms declaratory relief alone can finally and conclusively resolve constitutional controversies, even if further relief is requested. 90 Wn.2d at 538. Here, a declaration would be final and conclusive because it would end the dispute that Respondents admit exists: whether their energy and transportation policies and practices keep GHG emissions at dangerous levels, infringing Petitioners' fundamental rights and causing immediate and long-lasting harms to their physical and mental wellbeing. If Petitioners can show this conduct violates their fundamental rights, such a declaration would be a final and conclusive determination of the controversy irrespective of whether any other relief is requested or granted.⁷ *Id.*; *Ronken v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Snohomish Cty.*, 89 Wn.2d 304, 311, 572 P.2d 1 (1977); *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 556–58, 496 P.2d 512 (1972); RCW 7.24.010.

This Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have long acknowledged the important role of declaratory relief in resolving constitutional controversies, *e.g., Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 490 (collecting cases); *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 539; *League of Educ. Voters v. State*, 176 Wn.2d 808, 816–18,

⁷ Found. on Economic Trends v. Watkins, 731 F. Supp. 530, 531 (D.D.C. 1990) ("Although this Court may not be able to provide all the relief that the Plaintiffs request, a fair reading of the Complaint amply demonstrates that the Plaintiffs are challenging specific programs and projects upon which this Court can act").

295 P.3d 743 (2013), particularly in cases involving negative fundamental rights.⁸ *See, e.g., First United Methodist Church of Seattle v. Hearing Exam'r for Seattle Landmarks Pres. Bd.*, 129 Wn.2d 238, 245, 916 P.2d 374 (1996) (en banc) (controversy is justiciable because "the Court can reach a conclusive determination on the constitutionality of the" challenged ordinance). For purposes of justiciability, declaratory relief can stand on its own. *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 540 ("[i]n *Seattle School District*, we deferred to ongoing legislative reforms and simply declared the funding system [unconstitutional]."); *Ronken*, 89 Wn.2d at 311 ("we find the declaratory aspect of the order declaring the rights and liabilities of the parties under applicable law is final."); *Zwickler v. Koota*, 389 U.S. 241, 254 (1967) (court has a "duty to decide the appropriateness and the merits of [a] declaratory request irrespective of its conclusion as to the propriety of the issuance of [an] injunction.").⁹</sup>

⁸ See also Utah v. Evans, 536 U.S. 452, 463–64 (2002) (declaratory relief changes the legal status of the challenged conduct); Evers v. Dwyer, 358 U.S. 202, 202–04 (1958) (ongoing governmental enforcement of segregation laws create actual controversy for declaratory judgment); Brown v. Bd. of Educ., 347 U.S. 483, 495 (1954) ("the consideration of appropriate relief was necessarily subordinated to the primary question – the constitutionality of segregation in public education."); Samuel L. Bray, *The Myth of the Mild Declaratory Judgment*, 63 Duke L. Journal 1091, 1120 (2014) ("Many of the most momentous and controversial decisions of constitutional law over the last century have been declaratory judgments, including Powell v. McCormack, Roe v. Wade, Buckley v. Valeo, Bowers v. Hardwick, U.S. Term Limits, Inc v. Thornton, and most recently National Federation of Independent Business v. Sebelius. No critic of any of these decisions has ever contended that it had less effect because it took the form of a declaratory judgment.")

⁹ See also Harvard L. Rev. Ass'n, Substantive Limits on Liability and Relief, 90 Harv. L. Rev. 1190, 1248–49 (1977) (in systemic constitutional cases, "[t]he court's first step should be to issue a form of declaratory judgment, placing the defendants on notice of the

As a freestanding remedy, a declaratory judgment is effective relief because it terminates the controversy and carries an expectation that government officials will abide by the Court's interpretation of the constitution. *Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 506, 538 (court assumes "the other branches" will "carry out their defined constitutional duties" in response to declaratory relief); *Ronken*, 89 Wn.2d at 311–12; *Wash. State Coal. for the Homeless v. Dep.t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 133 Wn.2d 894, 918, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997) ("a judicial determination [of] the authority and responsibility of the Department and of the juvenile court when involved with homeless children will be final and conclusive[.]").¹⁰

The panel mischaracterized Petitioners' justiciability burden by stating that the trial court would need to "stabilize the future global climate" to establish a final and conclusive remedy. App. A at 19. This is an absurd conclusion that is contrary to countless cases resolving fundamental rights. *See e.g. Brown v. Bd. of Educ.*, 347 U.S. at 495 (declaring school segregation unconstitutional even though such an order could not resolve issues of racism in schools). The panel's reasoning would lead to disastrous

constitutional violation" so they can "remed[y] the violations on their own initiative;" further relief should only be considered if defendants fail to abide by declaratory relief). ¹⁰ *Brown v. Vail* is not to the contrary. 169 Wn.2d 318, 237 P.3d 263 (2010) (declaration that lethal injection protocol violated *statute* would not bind Department of Corrections because agencies not before the Court had prosecutorial discretion whether to enforce violations of statute, even if declared). Here, it is presumed Respondents will comply with a declaration their conduct violates the *constitution. Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 506.

results for children where elimination of all contributing sources of injury is impossible. For example, courts cannot wholly eliminate child sexual abuse imagery online, but declare it illegal where found, just as courts cannot wholly eliminate racism against children in schools or child homelessness, but declare government conduct unconstitutional where found. The panel's reasoning disregards the court's "core function" "to safeguard the individual liberties . . . in our constitution's Declaration of Rights," which by their nature prevent government from harming individuals, irrespective of whether parties not bound by Washington's Constitution also cause harm.¹¹ Petitioners' do not ask Respondents to *solve* climate change; nor is that their burden. See Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. 497, 525 (2007) (a mere reduction in GHG emissions satisfies redressability even if requested relief "will not by itself reverse global warming"); Juliana v. United States, 947 F.3d 1159 (9th Cir. 2020) (Staton, J., dissenting). Petitioners have a right to be free from harms caused and exacerbated by their state government. This decision, if left standing, insulates any government conduct from review when full redress is not possible and ignores U.S. Supreme Court precedent that "the ability 'to effectuate a

¹¹ Philip A. Talmadge, Understanding the Limits of Power: Judicial Restraint in General Jurisdiction Court Systems, 22 Seattle U. L. Rev. 695, 699 (Winter 1999).

partial remedy' satisfies the redressability¹² requirement." *Uzuegbunam v. Preczewski*, ____ U.S. ___, 2021 WL 850106 (Mar. 8, 2021) at *6 (quoting Church of Scientology of Cal. v. United States, 506 U.S. 9, 13 (1992)).

Underlying the panel's flawed justiciability analysis is a presumption that Petitioners' request for injunctive relief is somehow extraordinary or improper. Even aside from its mischaracterization of the requested injunctive relief as requiring new legislation,¹³ without the benefit of evidence establishing the scope of the constitutional violation, it is impossible to predict what injunctive relief, if any, may ultimately be appropriate. *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. 186, 198 (1963) ("Beyond noting that we have no cause at this stage to doubt the District Court will be able to fashion relief if violations of constitutional rights are found, it is improper now to consider what remedy would be most appropriate"); *Milliken v. Bradley*, 433 U.S. 267, 280 (1977) ("the nature of the ... remedy is to be determined by the nature and scope of the constitutional violation"). As in

¹² "The requirements for standing often overlap with the requirement that the lawsuit present a justiciable controversy." *Wash. State Housing Fin. Comm'n*, 193 Wn.2d at 711 n.4.

¹³ The panel's reliance on *Nw. Animal Rights Network v. State*, 158 Wn. App. 237, 242 P.3d 891 (2010), and *Nw. Greyhound Kennel Ass'n, Inc. v. State*, 8 Wn. App. 314, 506 P.2d 878 (1973), is misplaced. Both asked the court to criminalize conduct deemed lawful by the legislature, which is not requested here. Furthermore, no new legislation is required for Respondents to develop a remedial plan. Respondents already have ample statutory authority, both express and implied. RCW 70A.45.020(b); RCW 43.21F.010; *Tuerk v. State, Dep't of Licensing*, 123 Wn.2d 120, 124–25, 864 P.2d 1382 (1994); App. B ¶¶ 29–45. Moreover, no additional statutory authority is needed for the Court to declare Petitioners' rights or to enjoin Respondents' ongoing unconstitutional conduct.

Seattle School District, the trial court may opt to order declaratory relief and leave it to Respondents to comply. *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 547–48 (Madsen, C.J., concurring/dissenting) (court's job is to interpret the constitution, order compliance, and defer to the government for implementation). Even so, "[t]rial courts have broad discretionary power to fashion injunctive relief to fit the particular circumstances of the case before it," including remedial plans and orders to reform unconstitutional state systems. *Hoover v. Warner*, 189 Wn. App. 509, 528, 358 P.3d 1174 (2015); *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 546. This Court must grant review to correct the panel's legal error and clarify for all Washington courts that declaring what is right and wrong under the constitution "will be final and conclusive." *Lee v. State*, 185 Wn.2d 608, 618, 374 P.3d 157 (2016); *Acme Finance Co.*, 192 Wash. at 107.

B. The Panel Erroneously Expands the Political Question Doctrine

"[T]he Judiciary has a responsibility to decide cases properly before it, even those it 'would gladly avoid'" and the political question doctrine is a "narrow exception to that rule[.]" *Zivotofsky v. Clinton*, 566 U.S. 189, 194–95 (2012). "[T]here should be no dismissal" on political question grounds unless one of the factors identified in *Baker v. Carr* is "inextricable from the case at bar." 369 U.S. at 217; *Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 507 (applying *Baker* factors); *Brown v. Owen*, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718–19, 722, 206 P.3d 310 (2009) (same). "The political question cases in Washington have fallen into several broad categories: initiatives, recall, political organizations, and gambling," none of which are presented here.¹⁴ The panel's analysis turns the political question doctrine on its head, broadly forecloses constitutional claims and creates a conflict with U.S. and Washington Supreme Court case law.¹⁵

Looking under the first *Baker* factor to whether there is an exclusive and "textually demonstrable constitutional commitment of the issue" to another branch, 369 U.S. at 217, the panel egregiously found the general dedication of legislative authority to the legislature sufficient to foreclose Petitioners' constitutional claims. App. A at 9 (citing Wash. Const. art. II, § 1). To rule that this provision implicates the first *Baker* factor would broadly bar constitutional challenges to *all* legislation, eviscerating Article IV authority and the separation of powers. *Contra Rousso*, 170 Wn.2d at 75 (recognizing that while "[i]t is not the role of the judiciary to second-guess the wisdom of the legislature," the Court must still decide whether

¹⁴ Talmadge, *supra* n. 11, at 713–14; *but see Rousso v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 70, 75, 239 P.3d 1084 (2010) (reviewing the constitutionality of legislative ban on gambling and suggesting gambling is no longer a political question category).

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