FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/25/2021 4:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99564-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AJI P., et al.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondent.

# STATE'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER H.REITZ Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45566 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-4614 OID #91024

## **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' decision is firmly rooted in established law and does not conflict with any Washington appellate decision. While climate change itself is unquestionably an urgent problem of great public importance, the legal issues presented *in this case* are not and do not merit review by this Court. As the Court of Appeals concluded, Petitioners' claims fail for two independent reasons: the lack of a judicially available remedy *and* the lack a substantive basis in Washington law. Balancing competing policy interests to determine how and at what pace to reduce

greenhouse gas emissions in Washington is a task for the legislative and executive branches, and one at which these branches are hard at work. Because this case does not meet the RAP 13.4 standard, this Court should deny discretionary review.

## A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Separation of Powers Doctrine

The Court of Appeals properly found that the relief sought by Petitioners is not available through the judicial branch because it would involve determining a nonjusticiable political question, namely "whether the State's current [greenhouse gas] emissions statutes and regulations sufficiently address climate change." *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 188. The Court's decision is supported by well-settled law.

Washington courts utilize the political question doctrine to analyze whether a particular claim is justiciable or would result in a separation of powers violation. This Court did so in *Brown v. Owen*, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718–19, 722, 206 P.3d 310 (2009). Petitioners accept that *Brown* applies. Petition for Discretionary Review (Petition) at 11. The primary concern in this inquiry is "that the judiciary not be drawn into tasks more appropriate to another branch and that its institutional integrity be protected." *Brown*, 165 Wn.2d at 719. Whether a case presents a nonjusticiable political question is addressed under the factors set forth in *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S.

186, 210, 82 S. Ct. 691, 7 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1962). *Brown*, 165 Wn.2d at 718–19. Petitioners accept this premise as well. Petition at 12–16 (arguing the *Baker* factors).

The Court of Appeals' application of the *Baker* factors does not warrant review. The Court correctly recognized that all four *Baker* factors counsel against justiciability. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 447–49. For example, under the second *Baker* factor, a claim is nonjusticiable where it lacks "judicially discoverable and manageable standards" for resolution. *Baker*, 369 U.S. at 217. The Court of Appeals astutely concluded that Petitioners' claims lacked a judicially manageable standard because setting the pace and extent of emissions reductions and developing a carbon budget and climate recovery plan would require a mix of stakeholder engagement, policy determinations, and scientific expertise that is not available to the courts. *Aji P.*,16 Wn. App. 2d at 189.

Petitioners miss the mark in arguing that the judiciary could take scientific expert testimony to develop a science-based standard. Petition at 14. It is not just scientific evidence, but rather the mix of science, policy, and stakeholder engagement that are all critical components of setting the State's climate policies. As the Court explained, "it would be inappropriate for the judiciary to assume it can discern the appropriate [greenhouse gas] emissions reduction standard, given the scale and complexity of the climate

challenge," where "States must ensure an inclusive multi-stakeholder approach, which harnesses the ideas, energy and ingenuity of all stakeholders." *Aji P.*,16 Wn. App. 2d at 191 (quoting the United Nation's Joint Statement on "Human Rights and Climate Change").

Similarly, the Court properly applied the third *Baker* factor, related to "the impossibility of" resolving a claim "without an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion," Baker, 369 U.S. at 217. As the Court of Appeals observed that Petitioners ask the judiciary to make its own initial determination of the State's climate policies when the political branches have already made the initial policy determination on how to set a greenhouse gas regulatory regime, in the form of the Clean Air Rule, WAC 173-442. Aji P., 16 Wn. App. 2d at 189. Moreover, the Legislature has now authorized a more extensive greenhouse gas regulatory regime with the Climate Commitment Act and the Clean Fuels Standard. And the pace and extent of emission reductions is already set in statute. RCW 70A.45.020. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is sound in that the judiciary "cannot create a regulatory regime to replace one already enacted by the Legislature and state agencies without an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion." Aji P., 16 Wn. App. 2d at 190.

Petitioners argue that the judiciary could look to the greenhouse gas schedule in RCW 70A.45.020 to address the second and third *Baker* factors

because this statutory schedule provides an initial policy determination and a judicially management standard by which to judge the State's actions and issue meaningful relief. Petition at 14–15. But this is decidedly *not* what Petitioners have sought in this lawsuit. Far from seeking to enforce the statutory greenhouse gas limits, Petitioners' sixth claim for relief expressly challenged those limits as inadequate. CP 67–70. Then, after the Legislature amended the limits pursuant to Department of Ecology's recommendation, Petitioners withdrew that claim. Petition App. C at 112; Laws of 2020, ch. 79, § 1 (6)–(7). Petitioners' argument is thus directly contradicted by their complaint and was properly rejected by the Court of Appeals.

Petitioners' claims are nonjusticiable under the first *Baker* factor as well because their claims would require the Court to legislate the State's climate policies and the greenhouse gas regulatory regime Petitioners seek. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 189. Similarly, under the fourth *Baker* factor, the Court determined that setting and overseeing the State's climate policy "necessarily involves policing the political branches' policymaking decisions and, thus, inherently usurps those branches' legislative authority." *Id.* at 191. The Court's analysis under these factors is sound as well.

Petitioners' heavy reliance on *Seattle School District No. 1 of King County v. State*, 90 Wn.2d 476, 585 P.2d 71 (1978), and *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 269 P.3d 227 (2012), is misplaced. As this Court explained

in *McCleary*, those cases are distinguishable because they involve interpretation of a positive constitutional right. *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 518–19. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized this distinction. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 193–95.

Rather than seeking to enforce an established "positive constitutional right," as in *McCleary*, Petitioners here seek to enforce a silent, unestablished constitutional right for the community to a healthful environment. Far from requiring the Legislature to provide sufficient funding to fulfill its express paramount constitutional obligation, Petitioners ask the Court to require the State to enact a comprehensive greenhouse gas regulatory regime tuned to specific emission reduction requirements. The Court cannot accept this invitation without violating the separation of powers doctrine.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that Petitioners' claims are not redressable through the courts is consistent with prior state and federal caselaw on similar youth climate claims. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 191–93 (discussing *Svitak*, 2013 WL 6632124, at \*2, and *Juliana v. United States*, 947 F.3d 1159, 1169–72 (9th Cir. 2020)).<sup>4</sup> The fact that the Legislature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioners argue in a footnote that the Ninth Circuit rejected the political question doctrine on similar claims in *Juliana*. Petition at 16 n.20. While the *Juliana* court considered justiciability through an article III standing lens, it analyzed the very same separation of powers and political question doctrine issues. *Juliana*, 947 F.3d at 1173. ("Because it is axiomatic that the Constitution contemplates that democracy is the

would need to pass new laws to provide relief to the Petitioners is amply demonstrated by the numerous new laws that the Legislature *has* passed to address aspects of the climate challenge in recent years. *See supra* at 2–3.

This recent legislation contains exactly the kinds of policies and programs the Petitioners seek, and they must be accomplished through legislative, not judicial action. Indeed, it is the role of the Legislature, not the judiciary, to set policy and enact laws, as courts are not well-equipped to conduct their own balancing of the pros and cons associated with legislative policy. *Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist. 49*, 165 Wn. App. 2d 494, 506, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009); *Rousso v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 70, 74, 239 P.3d 1084 (2010). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that "wading into the waters of what policy approach to take, what economic and technological constraints exist, and how to balance all implicated interests to achieve the most beneficial outcome," in order to address Petitioners' claims in this case would violate well-settled separation of powers principles and require the judiciary to usurp the authority and responsibility of the other branches. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 191.

This is neither a controversial conclusion nor one in conflict with prior decisions. The Court's decision is firmly rooted in Washington's

-

appropriate process for change, some questions—even those existential in nature—are the province of the political branches.") (quoting *Brown*, 902 F.3d at 1087) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

separation of powers principles. This Court has consistently declined to adopt regulatory policy under the guise of resolving constitutional questions: "This Court is not equipped to legislate what constitutes a 'successful' regulatory scheme by balancing public policy concerns, nor can we determine which risks are acceptable and which are not. These are not questions of law; we lack the tools." *Rousso*, 170 Wn.2d at 88. Because the Court of Appeals applied the correct law and reached the correct result, this Court should decline review.

## B. Petitioners' Claims are Nonjusticiable Under the UDJA

Petitioners attempt to avoid the fundamental separation of powers issues at the heart of this case by making a technical argument related to the UDJA. Petition at 4–6. But the procedural vehicle chosen by Petitioners cannot bypass this Court's constitutionally-rooted justiciability doctrines. Relief on Petitioners' claims would not be final and conclusive for purposes of the well-established test for justiciability under the UDJA. Petitioners do not take issue with the legal test applied by the Court of Appeals, but rather disagree with the result of the Court's analysis. Petition at 5–6. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. at 196. That is not enough to justify this Court's review.

The UDJA can be used to determine statutory and constitutional rights in an appropriate case. However, courts will only proceed where a justiciable controversy exists that can be finally and conclusively resolved

through a declaratory judgment. *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 410–11, 27 P. 3d 1149 (2001). To be justiciable under the UDJA a plaintiff must establish:

(1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

*Id.* at 411 (quoting *Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley*, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973)). If these elements are not met, "the court steps into the prohibited area of advisory opinions." *Id.* at 416.

Petitioners cannot meet this standard. The fourth justiciability requirement is not satisfied because judicial determination cannot provide final and conclusive relief. *Pasado's Safe Haven v. State*, 162 Wn. App. 746, 761–62, 259 P.3d 280 (2011) (holding claim for declaratory relief nonjusticiable where the remedy is unavailable due to separation of powers limits on judicial action).

As the Court of Appeals properly held, meaningful relief on Petitioners' claims, "is inextricably tied to the retention of jurisdiction and to the order to implement the climate recovery plan." *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 197. This is because unlike cases where resolution of a legal issue

would provide relief in and of itself to a party, a declaratory judgment here that the State is not doing enough to reduce its residents' emissions would not be final and conclusive without injunctive relief and continuing oversight. *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 191–93; *see Juliana*, 947 F.3d at 1171–72 (discussing need for injunctive relief to redress similar claims and the unavailability of the "broad range of policymaking," required to judge and oversee such relief). Such a remedy, the Court held, "is necessarily provisional and ongoing, not final or conclusive." *Aji P.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 197. This conclusion is correct and consistent with Washington case law.

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals' decision contradicts Seattle School District. Petition at 4–8. However, Seattle School District is inapposite. A judicial declaration that the State's climate policy is inadequate will not provide a conclusive remedy for Petitioners' claims. Seattle School District dealt with the second element of UDJA justiciability—whether the parties had genuine opposing interests—not the fourth element at issue here. Moreover, Seattle School District addressed a positive constitutional right. As this Court recognized in McCleary, this is a material distinction; positive constitutional rights require government action, making the typical separation of powers considerations "inappropriate." McCleary, 173 Wn.2d at 518–19. And Petitioners' claims could only be redressed through additional legislation, a fact that

demonstrates the non-final nature of a declaratory judgment alone, and implicates the separation of powers concerns recognized by this Court. Petitioners' request for injunctive relief in their Complaint implicitly recognizes the necessity of intrusive judicial oversight as part of a final and conclusive remedy.<sup>5</sup>

At base, Petitioners seem to argue that if they could amend their complaint to exclusively seek declaratory relief, the case would be justiciable. *See* Petition at 8. Not so. Simply put, a declaration that the State's regulatory actions to date have not adequately reduced its residents' emissions would not provide final or conclusive relief. Only where a specific legal question is in dispute regarding the rights of parties, can declaratory relief alone be final and conclusive under the UDJA. *See Ronken v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Snohomish Cty.*, 89 Wn.2d 304, 310–11, 572 P.2d 1 (1977); *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 549, 556–58 (1972).

Unlike cases seeking a determination of specific rights and duties between parties that resolves a dispute, in this case Petitioners seek to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioners' request for injunctive relief is a central feature of their complaint—they request a court order requiring a climate recovery plan and then ask the court to maintain continuing jurisdiction for years to evaluate and supervise its implementation. *See* CP 40–41, 72 ¶ H. Petitioners cannot now amend their complaint though briefing. *Southern Walk at Broadlands Homeowner's Ass'n v. OpenBand at Broadlands, LLC*, 713 F.3d 175, 184 (4th Cir. 2013) ("It is well-established that parties cannot amend their complaints through briefing or oral advocacy.").

establish broad new community rights and sweeping government duties that would require legislative implementation. And they do so in the context of rapidly evolving regulation of residents' greenhouse gas emissions reductions. Far from resolving the dispute, a declaratory judgment would raise numerous additional questions and disputes. This is not similar to a typical UDJA claim involving the validity of a law, procurement procedure, or innumerable other types of cases involving specific rights and duties of parties under law, where declaratory relief under the UDJA can provide a final and conclusive resolution of the parties' dispute.

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